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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                             Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	MARY I. THOENI, 

                                                   Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

CONSUMER ELECTRONIC SERVICES,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO.,

                                                  Insurer,
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	       FINAL

       DECISION AND ORDER

      AWCB Case Nos.  200024807, 200005049, 

       200115879, 200115880
      AWCB Decision No. 02-0215 

       Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

       October 17, 2002



On September 17, 2002, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claim for temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits, medical costs, transportation costs, penalties, interest, pro se costs and expenses, and a finding that the employer committed frivolous and unfair controversions.  The employee appeared pro se.  Attorney Timothy A. McKeever represented the employer.  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.

ISSUES

1. Is the employee entitled to additional medical benefits?

2. Is the employee entitled to additional TTD benefits from October 19, 2000 through February 21, 2001 and from July 26, 2001 and continuing?

3. Is the employee entitled to transportation costs?

4. Is the employee entitled to penalties?

5. Is the employee entitled to interest on unpaid benefits?

6. Did the employer commit a frivolous and unfair controversion?

7. Is the employee entitled to legal costs?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

 
The employee was injured on March 27, 2000 while working as an electric technician for the employer.  She tripped on a box and landed on a cement floor, striking her hands and knees.  The employee had bilateral knee pain, and saw Robert Myers, M.D. at First Care Medical Center, where she was given a prescription for Vicodin.  (Dr. Myers 3/27/00 Chart Note). Dr. Myers referred the employee to David McGuire, M.D., whom the employee saw on March 29, 2000.  Dr. McGuire’s impression was that the employee suffered bilateral knee contusions, and he sought to rule out chondromalacia and a meniscus tear in her right knee.  Dr. McGuire noted the employee was unable to return to work.  (Dr. McGuire 3/29/00 Chart Note).  The employer accepted the employee’s claim and began paying the employee TTD benefits.


In May 2000, the employee became dissatisfied with Dr. McGuire’s care, and changed her treating physician to Robert J. Hall, M.D.  On May 22, 2000, Dr. Hall reported the employee’s main complaint was regarding her left knee, and he ordered a MRI.  If the MRI showed the employee’s meniscus to be normal, he stated he would refer her to physical therapy to rehabilitate her quadriceps.  If the MRI showed the meniscus to be torn, he would recommend arthroscopy.  (Dr. Hall 5/22/00 Report).  On June 2, 2000, Dr. Hall reviewed the MRI and found no evidence of a meniscal tear or fracture.  He referred the employee to physical therapy.  (Dr. Hall 6/2/00 Chart Note).  The employee began physical therapy with Cheryl Myers, P.T., at South Anchorage Physical Therapy on June 7, 2000.  (Cheryl Myers 6/7/00 Evaluation Summary).  The employee was discharged from physical therapy on June 29, 2000 without any appreciable change in her functional status.  Ms. Myers noted it was questionable whether a brace and work hardening would be beneficial.  (6/29/00 Discharge Summary).


On June 30, 2000, Dr. Hall reported that the employee continued to suffer left knee pain and feelings of giving way in her knee.  He noted inconsistencies in her physical examination, and felt, “At this point I don’t see anything else that we could offer this patient.”  He referred the employee to Shawn Hadley, M.D., for further rehabilitation. (Dr. Hall 6/30/00 Chart Note).


On July 19, 2000, Clyde Bullion, PA-C of Dr. Hadley’s office, assessed the employee as suffering left knee medial meniscal tears, and recommended the employee be seen by orthopedist, Bret L. Mason, D.O.  (Mr. Bullion 7/19/00 Chart Note).  Dr. Mason performed an arthroscopic evaluation on August 25, 2000, which was followed by physical therapy.  (Dr. Mason 8/25/00 Operative Note).  Physical therapy began September 20, 2000.  Dr. Mason noted the employee was making progress with physical therapy, and released the employee for work on October 5, 2000, with restrictions.  Dr. Mason expected the employee to reach medical stability within four weeks. (Dr. Mason 10/5/00 Chart Note). The employee was released from physical therapy on October 6, 2000 with a recommendation to continue her home exercise program.  (10/6/00 Physical Therapy Discharge Summary). 


The employee’s post-surgery was going well until she returned to work.  She began having chest pains, with pain spreading to her arm and up her neck.  On October 16, 2000, she was seen at Providence Alaska Medical Center Emergency Room (“PAMC”) complaining of chest pain and tightness in her chest. (10/16/00 PAMC Emergency Room Note)  The diagnosis was chest wall pain and anxiety.  The employee was discharged with instructions to follow up with her doctor later in the week.  Id.  The employee went to see Dwayne Trujillo, M.D., for a follow up appointment on October 19, 2000. Dr. Trujillo’s diagnosis was chest wall pain secondary to costochondritis.  He noted that even though the etiology of the costrochondritis was fundamentally unknown, the employee’s return to work and thus greater use of upper body movement, suggested her current condition was likely an overuse or repetitive stress-type injury. (Dr. Trujillo 10/19/00 Physician’s Report).  He excused the employee from work for two weeks and recommended a follow up appointment at that time. Id. 


On October 23, 2000, Virginia Samson, the employee’s case manager for her injury, sent a letter to Dr. Mason regarding the employee’s October 16, 2000 complaint of chest pains.  Attached to the letter was the PAMC emergency room report.  The letter asked Dr. Mason his opinion regarding whether the employee’s complaints of chest wall pain were in any way related to her use of crutches for the previous four to six weeks.  It also asked his opinion regarding whether the complaints of chest wall pain were related to the employee’s March 27, 2000 work injury.  Dr. Mason’s answer to both questions was “no.”  (Ms. Samson 10/23/00 Letter).  Dr. Mason saw the employee for a follow up appointment on December 2, 2000.  At that time Dr. Mason found the employee to be medically stable and stated he did not expect she would have any permanent disability.  (Dr. Mason 12/2/00 Chart Note).  


The employee filed a claim for her chest condition on November 2, 2000. (11/2/00 Workers’ Compensation Claim).    She saw Dr. Trujillo again on November 9, 2000.  Dr. Trujillo noted the costochondritis was work related and associated with a left shoulder girdle myofascial syndrome.  (Dr. Trujillo 11/9/00 Chart Note).


The employer filed a controversion of the employee’s knee and costochondritis claims on November 21, 2000.  One of the reasons stated for the controversion was because the employee was removed from work by Dr. Trujillo for a problem unrelated to her March 27, 2000 knee injury.  The controversion was also based on Dr. Mason’s November 2, 2000 conclusion that the employee had sustained no PPI as a result of her March 27, 2000 injury, and because of Dr. Mason’s opinion in October 2000 that the costrochondritis was not related to the March 27, 2000 knee injury. (11/21/00 Controversion Notice).


The employee saw Shawn Hadley, M.D., on December 7, 2000.  The employee had asked to see Dr. Hadley for a consultation to determine if Dr. Mason’s conclusions regarding her knee condition, treatment recommendations and ability to return to work were valid. (Mary Thoeni 11/9/00 Letter).  The employer treated this request as a change of physician, yet sent a letter to Dr. Hadley asking her to address the following: whether there was any objective medical evidence to support the employee’s left knee instability complaints, whether additional medical care was necessary, whether the employee had reached medical stability regarding her knee and chest conditions, what her diagnosis of the employee’s chest condition was, and whether it is work related, and if the employee could return to her job at the time of injury.  Dr. Hadley was also asked to provide an impairment rating for the employee.  (Ryan LeVeque 12/4/00 Letter). As reflected in Mr. LeVeque’s claim notes, Dr. Hadley apparently had concerns regarding the questions set forth in Mr. LeVeque December 4, 2000 letter.  (LeVeque 12/6/00 Claim Notes).  


Dr. Hadley examined the employee on December 7, 2000, and noted there were no clear findings to suggest the employee had an ongoing significant left knee pathology.  She suspected that because the employee was favoring her left knee that there was some functional weakness of her left quadriceps mechanism accounting for the employee’s continued complaint of her knee “giving-way.”  Although the employee refused to allow Dr. Hadley to prepare a permanent impairment rating, Dr. Hadley noted that contrary to Dr. Mason’s statement that the employee had no PPI with respect to her injury, the employee would have a permanent impairment based on a partial resection of her medial meniscus.  (Dr. Hadley 12/7/00 Report).  Dr. Hadley also stated the employee appeared medically stable and suggested a knee strengthening program.  Dr. Hadley opined there were significant nonmedical factors affecting the employee’s pain complaints, including attitudes towards her care providers which were likely significant barriers to her successful return to work. Id.

The employee also saw Dr. Trujillo for a follow up appointment on December 7, 2000.  He noted her costochondritis was moderately improved.  He prescribed additional physical therapy for six weeks.  


On December 9, 2000 the employee moved to Miami, Florida.  She was examined by Jose Jaen, M.D., on December 14, 2000.  His diagnosis was post-arthroscopic partial medial menisectomy, post-patella chondrectomy, medical meniscal fragment, and costochondritis.  Dr. Jaen recommended continued conservative treatment of the employee’s knee symptoms but indicated arthroscopic surgery may be needed if her symptoms persisted.  He also recommended continued physical therapy for her chest condition.  (Dr. Jaen 12/14/00 Report). On January 25, 2001 Dr. Jaen recommended surgery.  (Dr. Jaen 1/25/01 Chart Note).


An Employer’s Independent Medical Exam (EIME) was scheduled with Stephen Marble, M.D., for January 17, 2001 in Sandy, Utah.  On December 28, 2001 the employee sent a letter to the employer’s attorney and the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board stating she would not attend the scheduled EIME in Utah because round trip travel between Miami, Florida and Utah would result in an unreasonable and unnecessary level of pain; would require she bathe and dress without assistance should her knee fail; would require that she handle luggage either at the airport or the hotel while she is still under treatment for costochondritis; would require she traverse roads and/or walkways under winter conditions while experiencing instability of her left knee, exposing her to unreasonable and unnecessary risk of additional injury to her knee; and would interrupt her medical treatment.  The employee also claimed travel to Utah from Florida for an EIME was unreasonable and unnecessary due to the abundance of physicians available in Florida.  (12/28/01 Employee Letter).  The employer gave the employee until January 10, 2001 to reconsider attending the EIME in Utah.  No response from the employee was received, so the employer canceled the EIME. (Tim McKeever’s 1/12/01 Letter).


The employer controverted all of the employee’s benefits (except physical therapy prior to January 11, 2001) regarding her costochondritis claim on January 11, 2001 due to the employee’s failure to attend an EIME and her refusal to complete and return a medical records release.  (1/11/01 Controversion Notice).  The employer controverted the employee’s TTD benefits regarding her knee claim on January 15, 2001 because it had not received signed medical releases from the employee pursuant to AS 23.30.108.  (12/15/00 Controversion Notice).


In a letter dated January 26, 2001, the employee was notified that a second EIME was scheduled for February 23, 2001 in Miami, Florida with Salvadore Ramierez, M.D.  That same day, the employee sent a letter to the employer stating she was moving from Miami, Florida, to Montgomery, Alabama.  The letter provided the employer with her Alabama address.  As a result, the employee was no longer living in Miami, Florida on the day of the scheduled EIME.


On January 28, 2001, the employee moved to Alabama to live with her cousin.  She went to the Alabama Sports Clinic in Birmingham, Alabama and was seen by Jeffrey Davis, M.D., on February 19, 2001.  Dr. Davis’ diagnosis was left knee patellofemoral pain, mild quadriceps atrophy, possible internal derangement of the left knee, and quadriceps inhibition.  He recommended the employee complete a Protonics bracing program and patellofemoral protocol.  He opined the employee would have a hard time working with standing for any length of time, and stated the employee could not do any climbing, squatting, kneeling, or crawling.  (Dr. Davis 2/19/01 Report).  


The employer controverted the employee’s left knee and chest claims on February 14, 2001.  The reason for the controversion of the chest claim was the employee’s refusal to attend the EIME.  The reason for the controversion of the knee claim was because the employee had returned to work until mid-October 2001, and was subsequently removed from work by Dr. Trujillo for a medical condition unrelated to her knee injury of March 27, 2000.  (2/14/01 Controversion Notices).


The employer scheduled an EIME with Roland Rivard, M.D., in Montgomery, Alabama on February 21, 2001.  Dr. Rivard felt there may be a loose fragment in the employee’s knee.  It was his opinion the employee needed arthroscopic surgery to remove the loose fragment.  He noted the employee’s chest pain was improving and felt that she should be symptom free in 2 to 3 months.  (Dr. Rivard 2/21/01 Report).


Another controversion of the employee’s chest claim was filed on February 26, 2001.  This controversion was also for the employee’s failure to attend the EIME, but noted the employee had attended a second EIME and the employer was awaiting that report to see if the employee’s chest condition was work related.  (2/26/01 Controversion Notice).   


Based on the EIME’s opinion that the employee needed surgery, the employee went to see Dr. Armstrong on March 16, 2001.  He requested x-rays and a new MRI.  The employee was to return for a follow up visit after Dr. Armstrong received the MRI.  (Dr. Armstrong 3/16/01 Chart Note).  At the follow up appointment on March 27, 2001, Dr. Armstrong reviewed the MRI and discussed doing a re-arthroscope surgery with the employee.  (Dr. Armstrong 3/27/01 Chart Note).  The employee underwent a second surgery on her left knee on April 9, 2001.  The employee reported having measurable improvement until April 12, 2001. (Dr. Armstrong 4/12/01 Chart Note).


The employer controverted the employee’s prescriptions and mileage benefits regarding her knee claim on May 7, 2001.  The reason given by the employer for the controversion was that the prescriptions and mileage submitted by the employee were either unrelated to the employee’s knee claim or not supported by medical reports.  (5/7/01 Controversion Notice). 


The employee began physical therapy recommended by Dr. Armstrong on April 10, 2001.  The employee completed 23 sessions of physical therapy through June 1, 2001.  Dr. Armstrong also recommended work hardening.  After completion of physical therapy, the employee began the work hardening program.  The employee stopped attending the work hardening program sessions on June 11, 2001 due to conflicts between her and the work hardening therapist, and a lack of objective progress. (6/8/01 Work Hardening Weekly Progress Summary). She went back to Dr. Armstrong who noted she was depressed, and recommended she see a psychiatrist.  Dr. Armstrong later withdrew from treating the employee because they were unable to maintain a satisfactory physician-patient relationship.  (Dr. Armstrong 7/6/01 Letter).


Based on Dr. Armstrong’s recommendation, the employee saw William Freeman, M.D., on July 9, 2001.  Dr. Freeman diagnosed the employee with major depression, related to pain from her work injury.  He recommended medication and individual therapy with a psychologist.  (7/9/01 Physician’s Report).  Dr. Freeman also referred the employee to David Herrick, M.D., and Stuart Stephenson, M.D., of Birmingham, Alabama, for treatment of her pain. (Dr. Freeman  7/23/01 Report).


The employee was seen by psychologist Daryl Hamblin on July 10, 2001.  Dr. Hamblin’s diagnosis was major depression.  (7/10/01 Physician’s Report).  


The employee saw David Herrick, M.D., on July 26, 2001.  Dr. Herrick’s diagnosis was left knee pain.  He recommended using short acting opioids for several days out of the month when the employee has an exacerbation.  He explained to the employee they were simply going to be treating her knee pain, not attempting to cure her knee problem.  (Dr. Herrick 7/26/01 Report).  He found the employee to be medically stable from a pain standpoint, but not from a mechanical and orthopedic standpoint.  (Dr. Herrick  9/7/01 Letter).  Dr. Herrick reiterated these findings in a letter to the employer dated November 1, 2001.


The employer controverted medical benefits related to the employee’s knee claim on July 31, 2001.  The employer stated the treatment and medication received by the employee on July 14, 2001 for a bladder infection was unrelated to her knee injury.  (7/31/01 Controversion Notice).  


On September 3, 2001 the employee filed two new workers compensation claims.  One claim was for depression, the other for insomnia.  The employee requested TTD, medical costs and transportation costs for both claims.  (9/3/01 Claims). The prehearing officer ultimately joined the depression and insomnia claims with the employee’s knee and chest claims on October 31, 2001.  (10/30/01 Prehearing Conference Summary).


Stuart Stephenson, M.D. examined the employee on September 12, 2001.  Dr. Stephenson’s diagnosis was probable chondromylacia of the patella.  He recommended she seek treatment from a qualified pain management program.  (Dr. Stephenson 9/12/01 Chart Note).  


At the request of the employer, Dr. Rivard saw the employee for a functional capacities evaluation and a PPI rating on September 19, 2001.  Dr. Rivard found the employee had reached maximum medical improvement, but he was unable to rate her permanent impairment until he received a standing x-ray of her knee.  He did note she had no permanent impairment due to her chest injury.  In his opinion, the costochondritis was not related to her knee injury.  Due to submaximal effort in many of the tests, none of the ergonomic tests performed were valid.  It was also impossible for Dr. Rivard to make any determination regarding the employee’s limitations in various activities.  However, based on his physical examination of the employee and review of the charts, he determined the employee could perform sedentary type work and light work.  (Dr. Rivard 9/19/01 Report).    Standing x-rays of the employee’s knee reviewed by Dr. Rivard on October 10, 2001 showed no cartilage loss.  As a result, Dr. Rivard rated the employee’s PPI at 2%.  (Dr. Rivard 10/10/01 Letter with Addendum). 


The employer controverted the employee’s knee and chest claims on September 24, 2001.  The controversion was for all benefits.  The reason given for the controversion was the employee’s refusal to sign release forms for the employer. (9/24/01 Controversion Notice).


The employer controverted all benefits related to the employee’s left knee claim on October 25, 2001.  The reason for the controversion was the employee’s failure to submit to the employer’s complete EIME with Dr. Rivard by refusing to complete the necessary x-rays.  (10/25/01 Controversion Notice).


The employee underwent an EIME with Robert Barth, Ph.D., for a mental health consultation and a pain consultation on March 13, 2002.  Dr. Barth noted in his pain evaluation that from the beginning of his consultation, the employee told him it was her intention to refuse to comply with the full extent of the consultation.  Nevertheless, he completed his consultation, and ultimately recommended the employee consult with her doctors in regard to a plan for returning to work.  It was his opinion that the employee’s return to work was a crucially important part of her treatment plan. (Dr. Barth 3/13/02 Pain Consultation Report).


Regarding the mental health evaluation, Dr. Barth stated the employee’s failure to discuss her psychological history with him interfered with his diagnostic process.  Dr. Barth noted the employee’s presentation during the consultation satisfied the American Psychiatric Association’s criteria for malingering.  It was Dr. Barth’s opinion that there was no credible basis for concluding the employee’s mental illness is attributable to her work-related injury.  (Dr. Barth’s 3/13/02 Mental Health Consultation Report).  


On April 3, 2002, the employer controverted all benefits related to the employee’s depression and insomnia claims as of March 21, 2002.  The reason given for the controversion was that the claimed conditions were not related to the employee’s work injury.  The controversion was based in part on Dr. Barth’s March 13, 2002 report. (4/3/02 Controversion Notice).


On April 3, 2002, a second independent medical exam (“SIME”) of the employee was performed by Judith Weingarten, M.D.  Dr. Weingarten was examining the employee’s claims of depression and insomnia.  Dr. Weingarten found it difficult to make an accurate diagnosis due to the fact the employee told her prior to the evaluation that she would not give her a complete medical and psychological history.  Regardless, Dr. Weingarten’s opinion was that none of the employee’s psychiatric diagnoses would be related to a work injury with the employer.  Even if the employee had a diagnosable depression, Dr. Weingarten would not find it to be work-related.  Dr. Weingarten also noted that even if the employee had a work-related psychiatric condition, she has reached medical stability for both her depression and her insomnia. Like Dr. Barth, it was Dr. Weingarten’s opinion that the employee needs to return to work as soon as possible.  (Dr. Weingarten 4/10/02 Report).

 
On April 4, 2002 a SIME of the employee was performed by Neil Pitzer, M.D.  Dr. Pitzer performed a physical examination of the employee and noted the employee’s pain was localized without any significant proximal radiation.  He suggested she may benefit from bracing of her left knee to decompress the degenerative changes and help stabilize the knee to prevent buckling and ongoing aggravation of her left knee symptoms.  Based on her arthroscopy report he opined it was reasonable that the employee would have persistent knee symptomatology.  Dr. Pitzer did not believe the employee would benefit from additional surgery.  He agreed with Dr. Davis’ recommendation for bracing the employee’s knee, with limited physical therapy after the bracing had been performed. (Dr. Pitzer 4/4/02 Report).  As the employee only complained of left knee pain, he found her hand pain, right knee pain and costochondritis were not factors in the employee’s current pain complex.   He stated she would be medically stable after she has had bracing and therapy to transition her to an independent rehabilitation program.  It was Dr. Pitzer’s opinion that once the employee has some improvement of her left knee symptoms she could return to sedentary work activity.  No PPI rating was performed.  Id.


On April 19, 2002 the employer controverted all of the employee’s benefits related to the employee’s knee and chest claims.  The bases for the controversion were the SIME reports and the fact the employee had revoked her previously signed releases.  (4/19/02 Controversion Notice).


On June 4, 2002 the employee moved from Alabama back to Wasilla, Alaska. She filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim on August 26, 2002, claiming reimbursement for an extensive list of legal costs, totaling $3,269.74.  The listed items have only a very general description, and do not identify the claims or issues to which the costs relate.  The employer filed an Answer on September 11, 2002, denying the claimed costs, pointing out that the employee had not yet prevailed on any issue, that the listing was not complete, and that the employee had failed to file an affidavit of the accuracy of the costs. 


The employee testified at the hearing that she would like the knee brace recommended by Dr. Davis and Dr. Pitzer, but that she wants it to be fitted by a doctor trained in fitting and using the brace.  She is willing to see a therapist who can install the brace as long as she is also under a physician’s care simultaneously.  She testified there has been no change in her knee condition since she saw Drs. Pitzer and Weingarten in April 2002.  She also claims she never changed physicians without authorization or approval.  She requested TTD for her chest condition from December 15, 2000 through February 21, 2001, and a penalty for the employer’s later payment of this benefit.  She requested TTD from July 25, 2001 and continuing for her knee condition, and TTD for that same period of time for her depression.  Although she has received payment for past transportation costs, she asked the Board to award her future transportation costs.  


Virginia Samson, R.N. testified for the employer.  Ms. Samson is a case manager for Northern Rehabilitation and was assigned as case manager for the employee’s injury.  She submitted a status report dated November 3, 2000 which reflected the employee’s recovery from the August 25, 2000 surgery was going well, her pain was decreased, and she had no signs of infection.  Ms. Samson also testified she was present for Dr. Mason’s examination of the employee on October 5, 2000 when Dr. Mason stated the employee was ready to return to work.  The employee returned to work on October 9, 2000 and then experienced chest pains on October 16, 2000.  Ms. Samson stated she told the employee to go to the emergency room for her chest pains.  She testified she reviewed Dr. Mason’s responses to her letter dated October 23, 2000, which stated the employee’s chest pain was not related to her knee injury.  On November 3, 2000 the employee requested to see Dr. Hadley.  The employee did not tell Ms. Samson she wanted to change her physician to Dr. Hadley, just that she wanted to see Dr. Hadley.  Ms. Samson was at Dr. Hadley’s office during the employee’s appointment on December 7, 2000, but was not present in the exam room.


Ryan LeVeque, a claims adjuster with Alaska National Insurance Company, also testified.  Mr. LeVeque testified that both the employee and Ms. Samson told him the employee wanted to change her treating physician to Dr. Hadley.  He stated the employee asked on November 6, 2000 if she could change from Dr. Mason to Dr. Hadley because she was not happy with Dr. Mason.  Mr. LeVeque claimed he told the employee on November 8, 2000 that she had already used her change of physician, but he would allow her to change to Dr. Hadley if Dr. Mason did not object. He even sent a letter to Dr. Hadley on December 4, 2000, asking her to address the employee’s chest and knee injuries. 


Michelle Wagner, a senior claims examiner for Alaska National Insurance Company testified at the hearing.  Ms. Wagner began adjusting the employee’s claim in December 2000.  She testified the first time she was aware Dr. Davis had recommended the employee use the Protonics brace was several months after the employee’s surgery.  She testified the only reason Alaska National refused to pay any of Dr. Davis’ bills was because they did not have documentation to support the bills.  Finally, she testified that Alaska National will pay for the knee brace recommended by Dr. Davis and Dr. Pitzer, but that they object to the employee going out of the state of Alaska to have the brace fitted.


The employer argued the employee is not entitled to TTD from December 15, 2000 through February 21, 2001 because the employee did not sign medical releases timely and she did not attend the EIME in Utah pursuant to AS 23.30.108, and because Drs. Hadley, Mason, and Jaen stated she was medically stable during that period of time.  The employer also argued the employee was not entitled to TTD from July 26, 2001 and continuing because she had been found medically stable by Drs. Freeman, Herrick, and Rivard; had been found to be showing no signs of medical improvement by Dr. Stevenson and Dr. Armstrong; and was deemed able to do at least sedentary work by Drs. Stevenson, Armstrong, and Rivard.  Additionally, the employee testified her condition has not changed since April 2002 which also shows she is medically stable.  The employer argued the employee is not entitled to TTD for her depression and insomnia because she did not give the employer timely notice of these problems.  The employer claimed the employee knew about the depression and insomnia but did not file a claim for them until September 3, 2001, more than 30 days after she knew about them.  The employer also cited Dr. Weingarten’s report which stated the depression and insomnia were not work-related.  The employer also claimed the employee is not entitled to benefits because she failed to cooperate with the SIME and EIME.  Finally, the employer argued none of its controversions were frivolous or unfair.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. MEDICAL BENEFITS

A.   Presumption Analysis


AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part: "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter . . . ."  The Alaska Supreme Court has held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.”  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996), (quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991)).  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  "[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.”  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987), establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment, Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316, or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.  Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-74 (Alaska 1991).


The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment.  Id. Second, once the preliminary link is established, "it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.”  Id. (quoting Burgess Construction v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981)).  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.  Id.; Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869 (Alaska 1985). 


In Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991), the Court explained two possible ways to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Servs., 577 P.2d 1044 (Alaska 1978).  We defer questions of credibility and the what weight to give to the employer's evidence until after we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).  


The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Koons, 816 P.2d 1381.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  A longstanding principle in Alaska workers' compensation law is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee's favor.  Beauchamp v. Employers Liab. Assurance Corp., 477 P.2d 993 (Alaska 1970).


The employee seeks medical benefits for four conditions that she claims are work-related: left knee pain, costochondritis, depression, and insomnia.  We will address each condition in turn.

B. Knee Injury


We find the employee introduced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability regarding the need for medical treatment for her knee injury.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).  The employee testified she injured her knee at work on March 27, 2000 when she was carrying converter boxes to a bench to work on them.  She tripped over a box and landed on a cement floor striking her hands and knees.  That evening her knees were swollen, so she went to the First Care Medical Center and was treated by Dr. Myers.  She was referred by Dr. Myers to Dr. McGuire who excused her from work.  The employee subsequently treated with Dr. Hall and Dr. Mason.  Dr. Mason performed arthroscopic surgery on August 25, 2000.  She remained off work until Dr. Mason released her to return to work on October 5, 2000.  We find this testimony is sufficient evidence to establish a “preliminary link” between the work accident and the employee’s injuries.  Following the Court's rationale in Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, we therefore apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the medical benefits she claims.  


The employee having established a presumption of compensability, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence.  The employer presented the reports of Drs. Armstrong, Herrick, and Rivard.  Due to continued pain in her knee, Dr. Armstrong performed a re-arthroscope surgery on the employee’s left knee on April 9, 2001.  Dr. Herrick examined the employee on July 26, 2001 and found her knee condition to be medically stable from a pain standpoint on September 7, 2001.  Dr. Rivard saw the employee for a physical capacities evaluation and PPI rating on September 19, 2001.  Dr. Rivard found the employee had reached maximum medical improvement and stated she could perform sedentary to light duty work.  He rated her PPI at 2%.  As to the employee’s continuing need for medical care, we find the employer has offered substantial evidence ruling out the employee’s initial work-related knee injury as a substantial factor in causing the employee current pain symptom’s, thus rebutting the presumption.  See Safeway v. Mackey, 965 P.2d 22, 27-28 (Alaska 1998); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991). 


The employee must prove her claim for additional medical benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  Meek, 914 P.2d at 1280.  We find the employee has met her burden of proof.  The employee presented the medical reports of Dr. Davis and Dr. Pitzer regarding her knee injury and continued need for treatment.  Dr. Davis’ diagnosis was left knee patellofemoral pain and possible derangement of the left knee with quadriceps inhibition.  He recommended the employee complete a Protonics bracing program and patellofemoral protocol.  The SIME, Dr. Pitzer, noted the employee’s pain was localized without any significant proximal radiation.  He believed the employee would not benefit from additional surgery.  Dr. Pitzer was of the opinion the employee may benefit from bracing her left knee.   He agreed with Dr. Davis’ recommendation for bracing the employee’s knee, with limited physical therapy after the bracing had been performed.  He determined the employee would be medically stable after she had bracing and therapy to transition her to an independent rehabilitation program.     


We find the employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that she is entitled to continued medical benefits for her knee.  We rely on the reports of Dr. Davis and Dr. Pitzer and find the employee is entitled to treatment involving the Protonics bracing system, with limited physical therapy.  


The employee moved back to Alaska from Alabama in June 2002.  She has not sought treatment since her return.  We find the last physician the employee treated with in Alaska before she moved to Florida was Dr. Hadley.  However, we also find Dr. Hadley was not the employee’s treating physician.  This is based in large part on the letter sent to Dr. Hadley from the claims examiner Mr. LeVeque on December 4, 2000.  The letter set forth all of the questions an employer typically asks a physician it has selected for an EIME.  Additionally, the testimony of the employee and Ms. Samson, as well as Mr. LeVeque’s chart notes, reflect the employee was not asking to change her physician to Dr. Hadley.  She was asking for permission to have a second opinion regarding her knee.  Due to the circumstances surrounding the employee’s appointment with Dr. Hadley on December 7, 2000, and the employee’s recent move from Alabama back to Alaska, we find the employee is entitled to select a new treating physician at this time.  8 AAC 45.082(c)(4).


The employer argued the employee has made excessive changes in her treating physicians.  Although we agree with the employer that the employee has seen numerous physicians, it appears from Mr. LeVeque’s claim notes, the doctor’s reports and the testimony of the employee, that every time she saw a new physician it was either approved by the employer or based on a referral from another physician.  We find the employer was extremely accommodating to allow the employee to change her physician so many times.  We do not expect the employer will be so accommodating in the future.   


We found the employee is entitled to treatment involving the Protonics bracing system, with limited physical therapy.  The employee requested she be fitted for the brace by a doctor specifically trained in using the Protonics Treatment Approach.  According to the employee’s testimony and documents in the Board’s file, there are no doctors or physical therapists in Alaska trained in the Protonics Treatment Approach.  Thus, the employee asks to be sent out of state for fitting of the brace.  We have reviewed the web pages for Inverse Technology Corporation who manufactures the brace, and Empi Incorporated who markets the brace.  We take administrative notice of these web pages.  Based on our review, we find there are certification programs for physical therapists which train them to fit the Protonics brace on an individual.  We find the brace comes with a videotape which describes not only the mechanics of the brace itself, but also instructs one on how to use and align the brace.  As a result, we find the employee can find a physical therapist or physician to fit the brace locally.  We agree with the employer that it is not reasonable or necessary for the employee to travel to another state  to have the brace fitted.

C. Costochondritis


We find the employee introduced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability regarding the need for medical treatment for her costochondritis.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).  The employee testified she returned to work in October 2000.  On October 16, 2000, she began having chest pains.  The pain spread to her arm and neck, so she went to the Providence Alaska Medical Center emergency room.  She was diagnosed with chest wall pain and anxiety.  She followed up with her physician Dr. Trujillo.  Dr. Trujillo diagnosed her with chest wall pain secondary to costochondritis.  He excused her from work for two weeks.  It was Dr. Trujillo’s opinion that the costochondritis was work-related.    We find this testimony is sufficient evidence to establish a “preliminary link” between the employee’s work and her injury.  We therefore apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the medical benefits she claims for this injury. 


The employee having established a presumption of compensability, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence.   The employer’s evidence regarding the employee’s costochondritis consisted of the opinions of Drs. Mason, Rivard and Pitzer.  Dr. Mason’s opinion was that the condition was not related to the employee’s work-related knee injury.  It was also Dr. Rivard’s opinion that the costochondritis was not related to the employee’s knee injury, and that the employee had no permanent impairment due to this injury.  Dr. Pitzer noted the employee did not complain of any chest pain during his evaluation.  As a result, he found her costochondritis was not a factor in her current pain complex.  We find the employer has offered substantial evidence ruling out the employee’s initial work-related knee injury as a substantial factor in causing the employee’s costochondritis symptoms, thus rebutting the presumption.  See Safeway v. Mackey, 965 P.2d 22, 27-28 (Alaska 1998); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991). 


The employee must prove her claim for additional medical benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  Meek, 914 P.2d at 1280.  We find the employee has not proven her claim for additional medical benefits for costocondritis by a preponderance of the evidence. Dr. Trujillo is the only physician who stated the employee’s costochondritis was work-related.  Three other physicians who examined the employee did not come to the same conclusion as Dr. Trujillo. Additionally, the employee testified the costochondritis resolved in February 2001.  Thus, in accordance with the opinions of Dr. Mason and Dr. Rivard and the testimony of the employee specifically, we find the employee’s costochondritis was not related to her knee injury and she longer requires medical treatment for this condition.  Therefore the employee is not entitled to any additional medical benefits for this condition. 

D. Depression and Insomnia


Since the employee testified her claims of depression and insomnia arose from work-related pain, not work-related stress, we find the presumption applies.  We find the employee introduced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability regarding the need for medical treatment for her depression and insomnia.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).  The employee testified she was referred to a psychiatrist by Dr. Armstrong.  The employee was seen by Dr. Hamblin and Dr. Freeman who both diagnosed her with major depression. Dr. Freeman stated the depression and insomnia were related to pain from the employee’s work injury.  He recommended medication and individual therapy with a psychologist.  We find this testimony is sufficient evidence to establish a “preliminary link” between the work accident and the employee’s depression and insomnia.  We therefore apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the medical benefits she claims for these injuries. 


The employee having established a presumption of compensability, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence.   The employer’s evidence regarding the employee’s depression and insomnia consisted of the opinions of Dr. Barth and Dr. Weingarten.  It was Dr. Barth’s opinion that there was no credible basis for concluding the employee’s mental illnesses are attributable to her work-related knee injury.  He found the employee’s presentation during his examination satisfied the American Psychiatric Association’s criteria for malingering.  Dr. Weingarten’s was also of the opinion that none of the employee’s psychiatric diagnoses were related to a work injury with the employer.  Dr. Weingarten noted that even if the employee had a work-related psychiatric condition, she reached medical stability for both her depression and insomnia. We find the opinions of Dr. Barth and Dr. Weingarten that the employee’s psychiatric diagnoses are not related to a work injury with the employer sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption.  See Safeway v. Mackey, 965 P.2d 22, 27-28 (Alaska 1998); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991). 


The employee must prove her claim for additional medical benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  Meek, 914 P.2d at 1280.  We find the employee has not proven her claim for additional medical benefits for depression and insomnia by a preponderance of the evidence.  We have reviewed the reports of Drs. Hamblin, Freeman, Barth and Weingarten.  We find the reports of Dr. Barth and Weingarten to be more convincing and credible.  The record from Dr. Hamblin consists of nothing more than a chart note.  Dr. Freeman’s report is not much more than that.  The reports of Dr. Barth and Dr. Weingarten are substantial and demonstrate they conducted a thorough analysis of the employee’s psychological history through the use of tests and conversation.  In accordance with the opinions of Dr. Barth and Dr. Weingarten, we find the employee’s psychiatric conditions are not related to her knee injury and therefore the employee is not entitled to any additional medical benefits for these conditions. 

II. TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS

A.  Knee Injury


AS 23.30.185 provides:


In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

As noted above, the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.  Meek, 914 P.2d at 1279.  As a result, we will apply the three-step process outlined above to determine if the employee is entitled to TTD for her various injuries.  The employee testified she injured her knee while working for the employer on March 27, 2000.  She was excused from work and underwent surgery on her knee.  She was released to work by Dr. Mason on October 5, 2000.  She believes she was released to work too soon because she continued having pain in her knee. The employee testified she attempted to see Dr. Hadley for a second opinion about her knee, but the employer treated Dr. Hadley as if she were an EIME, so the employee refused to undergo a complete examination.  

The employee testified she moved to Florida in December 2000, and was seen by Dr. Jaen.  Dr. Jaen examined the employee’s knee and recommended continued conservative treatment for her knee, but also told her arthroscopic surgery might be needed if her symptoms persisted.  Dr. Jaen ultimately recommended surgery in January 2001.  The employee explained she moved from Florida to Alabama where she was initially treated by Dr. Davis.  Dr. Davis examined the employee’s knee and recommended the employee complete a Protonics bracing program and patellofemoral protocol.  The employee also underwent an EIME with Dr. Rivard in February 2001.  At that time Dr. Rivard felt there may be a loose fragment in the employee’s knee.  It was his opinion the employee needed arthroscopic surgery to remove the loose fragment.  The employee testified she was also treated by Dr. Armstrong in Alabama, and Dr. Armstrong ultimately performed a re-arthroscope surgery on her knee on April 9, 2001.  Dr. Armstrong withdrew from treating the employee in July 2001.  As a result, the employee testified she went to see Dr. Herrick, who diagnosed her with left knee pain and recommended she use short acting opioids when she was having an exacerbation of her pain.  Dr. Stephenson examined the employee in September 2001.  He recommended she seek treatment from a pain management program.  The employee testified the last physician she saw was Dr. Pitzer, for an SIME in April 2002.  Dr. Pitzer agreed with Dr. Davis that the employee would benefit from bracing her knee and recommended she undergo limited physical therapy after the bracing had been performed.

Based on the employee’s testimony and the reports of Drs. Jaen, Davis, Rivard, Armstrong, Herrick, Stephenson, and Pitzer, we conclude the presumption of compensability attaches to the employee’s TTD claim regarding her knee.  


The reports of Dr. Mason and Dr. Hadley reflect the employee’s knee injury was medically stable as of December 2000.  The September 2000 EIME report of Dr. Rivard stated the employee had reached maximum medical improvement for her knee and was able to perform sedentary to light duty work.  He gave her a 2 % PPI rating.  We find the reports of Drs. Mason, Hadley and Rivard are substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability for the employee’s TTD claim.  DeYonge 1 P.3d at 96; Grainger, 805 P.2d at 977.


Finally, the employee bears the burden of proving all the elements of her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Veco, Inc., 693 P.2d at 865. 
Although Dr. Mason and Dr. Hadley both found the employee’s knee condition was medically stable in December 2000, numerous other physicians found it was not, and recommended additional surgery and treatment.  A second knee surgery was performed on April 9, 2001.  The employee was apparently having measurable improvement until she began physical therapy and work hardening in mid-April 2001.  She was seen by examined by Drs. Herrick, Stephenson and Pitzer post-surgery.  All three physicians recommended some form of additional treatment.  The SIME physician, Dr. Pitzer even stated in his report that the employee would not be medically stable until after she has had bracing of her knee and therapy to transition her to an independent rehabilitation program. 


AS 23.30.185 limits the duration of TTD to the date of medical stability.   AS 23.30.395(21) defines medical stability:  

“[M]edical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional 
medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for addi​tional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measur​able improvement for a period of 45 days; "this presump​tion may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence . . . .

Since there is a dispute as to whether or not the employee is medically stable at this time, we must determine when her entitlement to TTD benefits would begin.



The presumption of medical stability in the statutory definition must be read in the context of the terms that “improvement. . . is not reasonably expected.”  To terminate the employee’s TTD benefits, the employer is required to show medical evidence to establish medical stability.  In the absence of any other explicitly required burden of proof to show medical stability, we conclude the employer must show medical stability by a preponderance of the evidence, as is standard in administrative law proceedings.  See AS 44.62.460(e).  Once medical stability is established and has continued for 45 days, it is presumed to continue until overcome by clear and convincing evidence.  Leigh, 823 P.2d at 1246-1247.


In this case, Dr. Mason and Dr. Hadley found the employee medically stable in December 2000.  However, contemporaneously Dr. Jaen was recommending additional treatment and possible surgery.  The surgery recommended by Dr. Jaen was performed by Dr. Armstrong in April 2001.  Considering this evidence, we cannot find that “improvement  … [was] not reasonably expected” from the recommended treatment, and we cannot find the employee was medically stable as of December 7, 2000, the time she was examined by Dr. Hadley.  Dr. Herrick found the employee was medically stable from a pain standpoint but not a mechanical or orthopedic standpoint on September 7, 2001.  Dr. Rivard found the employee was medically stable and able to do sedentary or light duty work on September 19, 2001.  However, during that same time period, Dr. Stephenson was recommending the employee obtain additional treatment at a pain management program, and as recently as April 2002, Dr. Pitzer found the employee would not be medically stable until after she has bracing of her knee and physical therapy.


The employee was released to work by Dr. Mason on October 8, 2000, but was prevented from working after October 16, 2000 for other reasons.  We find that once Dr. Jaen recommeded surgery, the employee was no longer medically stable.  Based on the opinions and treatment given by Drs. Davis, Stephenson, and Pitzer, we find the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee’s knee condition has not been medically stable since Dr. Jaen recommended surgery on January 25, 2001.  Therefore, we find the employee is entitled to TTD benefits for her knee injury from January 25, 2001 (the date Dr. Jaen recommended the employee undergo a second knee surgery), until she reaches medical stability.

B.  Costochondritis

We will now apply the three-step presumption analysis outlined above to determine if the employee is entitled to TTD for her costochondritis condition.  The employee testified that after she returned to work in October 2000 she began having chest pains. She went to the emergency room for these chest pains on October 16, 2000.  In a follow up appointment with Dr. Trujillo on October 19, 2000, she was diagnosed with costochondritis.  Dr. Trujillo noted the etiology of the costochondritis was unknown, but he believed her return to work and greater use of upper body movement made it likely that it was due to an overuse or repetitive stress-type injury.  He excused her from work for two weeks. Based on the employee’s testimony and the report of Dr. Trujillo, we conclude the presumption of compensability attaches to the employee’s TTD claim regarding her costochondritis.  


In a letter dated October 23, 2000, Dr. Mason reported it was his opinion that the employee’s chest complaints were not related to her March 27, 2000 knee injury.  In a report dated September 19, 2001, Dr. Rivard also found the employee’s costochondritis was not related to her knee injury. Additionally, when the employee was examined by Dr. Pitzer in April 2002 she did not even mention her costochondritis.  As a result, Dr. Pitzer found it was not a factor in her current pain complex. We find the reports of Dr. Mason and Dr. Rivard are substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability for the employee’s TTD claim.  DeYonge 1 P.3d at 96; Grainger, 805 P.2d at 977.


Finally, the employee bears the burden of proving all the elements of her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Veco, Inc., 693 P.2d at 865.  The employee presented the November 9, 2000 report of Dr. Trujillo in which he specifically stated the employee’s costochondritis was work-related.  She also presented the December 14, 2000 report of Dr. Jaen in which, although he did not specifically state whether her costochondritis was work-related or not, he recommended the employee continue physical therapy for the condition. Based on the opinions of Dr. Trujillo, and Dr. Jaen, we find the employee’s costochondritis was work-related.  


However, based on the opinions of Dr. Rivard and Dr. Pitzer, and the employee’s testimony that her costochondritis resolved by February 2001, we find the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee’s costochondritis has in fact resolved.  Additionally, the employee has presented no evidence that she was prevented from working due to the costochondritis after November 2000.  Although Dr. Jaen recommended additional treatment for the condition, he did not state in his report that the employee was unable to work because of it.  The employer paid TTD benefits for the employee’s costochondritis until January 11, 2001, when it controverted her claim because she failed to attend an EIME and sign a medical release.  Therefore, we find the employee is not entitled to additional TTD benefits for her costochondritis.
 

C. Depression and Insomnia

Since the employee testified her claims of depression and insomnia arose from work-related pain, not work-related stress, we will now apply the three-step presumption analysis outlined above to determine if the employee is entitled to TTD for her depression and insomnia.  The employee testified that after her second knee surgery in April 2001, she was having measurable improvement until she attended a work hardening program.  She testified she did not get along well with the work hardening therapist, which she thinks affected her recovery.  She was feeling a lot of pain in her knee and was unable to sleep more than a few hours a night.  The last work hardening session she attended was June 11, 2001.  The following day she saw Dr. Armstrong.  At that time Dr. Armstrong noted her depression and referred her to a psychiatrist.  She went to see Dr. Freeman.  Dr. Freeman diagnosed her with major depression related to pain from her work injury.  He recommended medication and individual therapy with a psychologist.  Based on the employee’s testimony and the report of Dr. Freeman, we conclude the presumption of compensability attaches to the employee’s TTD claim regarding depression and insomnia.  


The employee underwent an EIME with Dr. Barth on March 13, 2002.  Dr. Barth noted the employee’s presentation during the examination fit the criteria for malingering.  He also found there was no credible basis for concluding her mental illnesses are attributable to her work-related injury.  The employee was also examined by Dr. Weingarten as part of an SIME on April 3, 2002.  Dr. Weingarten’s opinion was that none of the employee’s psychiatric diagnoses were related to a work injury with the employer.  We find the reports of Dr. Barth and Dr. Weingarten are substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability for the employee’s TTD claim.  DeYonge 1 P.3d at 96; Grainger, 805 P.2d at 977.


Finally, the employee bears the burden of proving all the elements of her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Veco, Inc., 693 P.2d at 865.  The only evidence presented by the employee in support of her claims for depression and insomnia were the one page Physician’s Report of Dr. Hamblin and a couple of reports from Dr. Freeman.  The employer rebutted the opinions of Dr. Hamblin and Dr. Freeman with the opinions of Dr. Barth and Dr. Weingarten. We chose to give greater weight to the opinions of Dr. Barth and Dr. Weingarten.  At the beginning of the examinations, the employee told both Dr. Barth and Dr. Weingarten that she intended to refuse to comply with the full extent of the examination.  We believe she chose to do so at her own peril.  Although the employee was not completely cooperative with Dr. Barth and Dr. Weingarten, we find their reports and opinions to be well reasoned.  Therefore, we gave them greater weight than the opinions of Dr. Freeman and Dr. Hamblin.  Thus, based on the opinions of Dr. Barth and Dr. Weingarten, we find the employee’s depression and insomnia are not work-related, and the employee’s claim for TTD benefits for these conditions is denied.
 

III. TRANSPORTATION COSTS


8 AAC 45.082(d) provides in pertinent part:  


. . . Unless the employer controverts the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives … an itemization of the dates of travel, destination, and transportation expenses for each date of travel. 


The statutory presumption of compensability at AS 23.30.120(a) also applies to claims for medical benefits and related transportation costs.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2. 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).  In this case, the employee did not present the Board with evidence of any unpaid transportation expenses.  Additionally, the employee testified she was requesting that transportation costs be paid in the future.  Since there were no outstanding transportation expenses submitted to the Board, we find the employee has failed to raise the presumption of compensability.  We therefore deny the employee’s claim for transportation costs at this time.  

IV. PENALTIES AND INTEREST

AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death. On this date all compensation then due shall be paid. . . .

(d) . . . If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due. . . .

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it. This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.

We have found each of the controversions filed by the employer were based on valid legal or medical evidence.  Harp v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1992).  See Issue V below.  As a result, we find no penalties are due pursuant to AS 23.30.155(e). 


However, the employer did not pay the employee any TTD benefits for the employee’s knee from October 19, 2000 through February 21, 2001, and from July 26, 2001 and continuing.  8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under 
an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

We have determined that benefits are due for TTD beginning January 25, 2001, and we have also awarded medical benefits.  The Courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.  See Land & Marine Rental Company v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187, 1192; Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association, 860 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Alaska 1993).  Accordingly, we will award interest to the employee under 8 AAC 45.142(a)&(b)(3) on all TTD benefits and medical benefits from the dates on which those benefits were due to her.  We will also award interest under 8 AAC 45.142(b)(3)(C) to any medical provider or payer reimbursed as a result of this decision.

V. FRIVOLOUS AND UNFAIR CONTROVERSION


We next consider the employee’s claim that the employer’s numerous controversions have been frivolous and unfair.  In Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992), the Alaska Supreme Court held that an employer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion:

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty… For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

Id. at 358.  The Board has previously applied the court’s reasoning in Harp and held that a controversion not made in good faith is frivolous and unfair for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o).  Seamon v. Matanuska Susitna Borough School District, AWCB Decision No. 02-0045 (March 8, 2002); Waddell v. Eagle Hardware & Garden, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 98-0095 (April 17, 1998); Stair v. Pool Arctic Alaska Drilling, AWCB Decision No. 98-0092 (April 13, 1998).  The Board has consistently required an employer or insurer to have specific evidence on which to base a controversion.  See Slaughter v. Peratrovich, Nottingham & Drage, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 01-0149 (July 30, 2001); Prenger v. K-Mart, AWCB Decision No. 98-0190 (July 23, 1998); Lincoln v. TIC- The Industrial Company, AWCB Decision No. 97-0212 (October 20, 1997).  


In this case, there were more than 15 controversions filed by the employer.  The employer controverted the employee’s benefits numerous times for her failure to sign releases.  Several of the controversions were based on physician’s reports which stated the employee was medically stable or the employee’s condition was not work-related.  Her benefits were also controverted because she failed to attend and fully cooperate with an EIME.  We have examined the controversion notices filed by the employer, and find a rational basis exists for each of them in this case.  


Although the employer may have mailed the disputed releases to the improper address at one time, we find the employee refused to sign the releases once they had been mailed to her proper address.  This is reinforced by the numerous challenges the employee made to the releases after she did receive them.  The prehearing conference summaries reflect the subject of “releases” was constantly addressed by the prehearing officer.  The employee even drafted her own release forms and sent them to the employer.  The prehearing officer reviewed the releases submitted by the employer and with minor modifications, directed the employee to sign them.  (Prehearing Conference Summaries dated 1/29/01, 6/27/01, 8/30/01, 10/30/01, 11/14/01,3/12/02).  Even so, the employee modified the releases sent to her by the employer before signing them.  At one point the employee filed a protective order regarding the releases she had signed.  Attached to the petition for a protective order were copies of the releases marked “void,” leading the employer to believe the releases had been rescinded until they could clarify the matter at the March 12, 2002 prehearing conference.  


Not only has the employee been directed on numerous occasions by the prehearing officer to sign the releases, she was even ordered by the Board in a decision dated May 2, 2002 to sign said releases.  The litany of paperwork filed by the employee in this case makes it difficult to determine what releases were actually valid (according to her) and when.  It also appears the employee’s delay in signing the releases may have resulted in the delay in the employee and her physicians being paid.  


The employer controverted the employee’s benefits for failing to attend and fully cooperate with EIMEs.  The employee’s refusal to attend the EIME in Utah is not excusable.  The employee had recently made a trip by herself from Anchorage, Alaska, to Miami, Florida.  No physician had stated the employee was unable to fly due to her knee or chest condition.  Although the employer would not provide a companion for the flight from Florida to Utah, certainly the employee could have sought the assistance of the airlines, cab drivers, and hotel personnel in handling her luggage at the various locations.  Fear that there may be snowy or icy conditions in Utah also was not a sufficient basis to refuse to attend the EIME.  We agree with the employee that the employer could have found a physician in Florida to conduct the EIME.  In fact, they eventually did so, but the employee had moved to Alabama.  Regardless, the employer is permitted under AS 23.30.095(e) to select its physician for an EIME.  An employer does not have to select their EIME physician based on what is the most convenient location for the employee.  


The controversions based on the physician’s opinions that the employee was medically stable, that her condition had resolved, or that the employee’s condition was not work-related are also valid.  They were based on a good faith belief in the physician’s opinion, and thus are supported by sufficient medical evidence.  We find there existed a sufficient basis for the employer to controvert the employee’s claim on every occasion in which it did so.  As a result, we find the employer’s controversions were made in good faith, and were not frivolous or unfair.  The employee’s claim that the controversions were frivolous and unfair must therefore be denied and dismissed.

VI. PRO SE LEGAL COSTS


AS 23.30.145 provides, in part:



(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered. 


8 AAC 45.180 provides, in part:



(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim. . . .


We find the employee’s claims were controverted by the employer, and we may consider the employee’s legal costs to pursue her claims.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1979).  The employee submitted an itemized list of costs related to the prosecution of her claims, as required by 8 AAC 45.180(f).  However, the employee has not provided an affidavit of the accuracy of the list of costs.  Additionally, the employee has prevailed on only a portion of her claims.  Only the costs related to the claims on which she prevailed can be awarded pursuant to 8 AAC 45.180(f).  From our inspection of the listed costs, we cannot determine which costs are related to those issues on which the employee prevailed. 


Under our authority at AS 23.30.135 to investigate claims, we will retain jurisdiction over this issue.  We direct the employee to redraft her list of legal costs, listing only those related to the issues on which she prevailed: her claim for medical benefits for her knee, (specifically her claim for the Protonics brace system and requisite therapy), her TTD claim for her knee, and her claim for interest.   We also direct the employee to prepare an affidavit of the accuracy of the new list, and to serve the list and affidavit on the employer within 14 days of the filing of this decision.  These documents should also be filed with us.  


We direct the parties to resolve the specific costs due under this decision.  The employer is directed to pay the reasonable costs related to the claims on which the employee prevailed within 14 days of service of the affidavit and itemized list, or to serve and file an objection to specific costs claimed within 14 days of service.  We will retain jurisdiction over this issue for 45 days following the filing of this decision and order to resolve any disputes which may arise.  The parties are directed to raise any disputes over these costs at a  prehearing conference within this 45 day period.  The prehearing officer may then set a hearing on the basis of the written record to resolve any remaining dispute.

ORDER

1. The employee is entitled to choose a new treating physician, and to treatment involving the Protonics bracing system, with limited physical therapy. 

2. The employee is entitled to TTD benefits from January 25, 2001 until she reaches medical stability.

3. The employee is not entitled to any transportation costs at this time.

4. The employee is not entitled to any penalties pursuant to AS 23.30.155(e).
5. The employee is entitled to interest under 8 AAC 45.142(a)&(b)(3) on all TTD benefits and medical benefits from the dates on which those benefits were due to her.
6. The employer did not commit any frivolous or unfair controversions.
7. The employee is ordered to redraft her list of legal costs, listing only those related to the issues on which she prevailed, prepare an affidavit of the accuracy of the new list, and serve and file these documents with the employer and the Board within 14 days of the filing of this decision.  The employer is ordered to pay the reasonable costs related to the claims on which the employee prevailed within 14 days of service of the affidavit and itemized list, or to serve and file an objection to specific costs claimed within 14 days of service.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 17th day of October 2002.
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Suzanne Sumner,

                              



Designated Chairperson
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John A. Abshire, Member
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Philip E. Ulmer, Member


If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25% will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.

APPEAL PROCEDURES


This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION


Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION


I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of MARY I. THOENI employee / applicant; v. CONSUMER ELECTRONIC SERVICES, employer; ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO., insurer / defendants; Case Nos. 200024807, 200005049, 200115879, 200115880; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 17th day of  October 2002.

                             
_________________________________

                            




Marie Jankowski, Clerk

�








� The employee testified she likes to interview physicians before she deciding who she wants to trust with her care.  That may be the case, but in the Workers’ Compensation system, the employer is not responsible for paying for her “interviews.” If the employee wishes to see numerous physician’s before designating her new treating physician, she will do so at her own expense.
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